IN THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

Appellate Case No. 2026-000774

Brandi Barnett and Kevin Rubink, Plaintiffs,

v.

Luke Shealey, Brian Shealey, and Shealey Law Firm, LLC, Defendants,

of which Brandi Barnett is the Appellant and Luke Shealey is the Respondent.

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas

Fifth Judicial Circuit, Richland County

Case Under Appeal: 2025-CP-40-06986

The Honorable Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appeal from Order Entered February 25, 2026

APPELLANT BRANDI BARNETT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Brandi N. Barnett, Pro Se

Appellant

10993 Ocean Hwy, Unit 2123

Pawleys Island, SC 29585

Phone: 347-927-9070

Email: bbarnett3@gmail.com

June 2026

RECEIVED

Jun 18 2026

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- Issue 1. Whether the circuit court erred by dismissing all claims under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, without separately analyzing documentary, non-negligence theories, including refund, contract/refund-promise, unjust enrichment, equitable relief, confidentiality, redaction, public-record correction, and enforcement, that did not necessarily require expert testimony. *Standard of review: de novo.*
- Issue 2. Whether Respondent Luke Shealey's written refund offers, Fee Disputes Board refund context, the Rule 1.5(f) issue, alleged nonpayment of the Board-related refund determination, and Appellant's preserved objections to extra-record and confidentiality allegations supplied an objectively reasonable basis for filing and defeated any finding of frivolousness or improper purpose. *Standard of review: abuse of discretion for sanctions; legal errors reviewed de novo.*
- Issue 3. Whether the February 4, 2026 hearing transcript, the February 6 Form 4, the February 25 written order, and Appellant's Rule 60 clarification filing show that dismissal, sanctions, and filing restrictions were imposed without separate, individualized findings as to Appellant's own conduct and without identification of the specific conduct required to support sanctions. *Standard of review: abuse of discretion; embedded legal error reviewed de novo.*
- Issue 4. Whether former-client confidentiality, redaction, and public-record correction were independent merits issues requiring legal analysis on their own terms and could not properly be converted into a basis for sanctions or a finding of frivolousness. *Standard of review: de novo as to legal issues; abuse of discretion as to sanctions.*
- Issue 5. Whether the dismissal with prejudice, sanction consequences, and filing restrictions should be reversed, vacated, narrowed, or remanded for claim-by-claim analysis and party-specific findings. *Standard of review: de novo as to legal error; abuse of discretion as to remedy.*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PRESERVATION

This appeal concerns the dismissal, sanction consequences, and filing-restriction language entered in Richland County Case No. 2025-CP-40-06986. Appellant filed the 06986 civil action; Respondents moved to dismiss; the circuit court heard the matter on February 4, 2026 (Tr. p. 4, ll. 1-25); the court entered a Form 4 on February 6, 2026; the court entered a written order on February 25, 2026; and Appellant thereafter filed a Rule 60 motion in 06986 seeking clarification or relief from the sanction and filing-restriction language as applied to her individually.

The related fee-dispute matter, 2025-CP-40-04675, was heard in the same proceeding on February 4, 2026, immediately before 06986 was called (Tr. p. 4, l. 1 through p. 9, l. 25; p. 10, ll. 1-3). Appellant relies on that portion of the transcript only for four narrow contextual points: the refund dispute, Board context, Rule 1.5(f) issue, and hearing-sequence continuity. Appellant does not rely on 04675 to import any litigation history or party-specific issues belonging to another person.

The designated materials include the February 6 Form 4; the February 25 written order; the limited 04675 fee-dispute ruling and Board context; Appellant's 06986 Rule 60 filing; Appellant's file-stamped Motion to Strike objecting to extra-record and confidentiality allegations (Tr. p. 8, ll. 13-19); the 06986 complaint; Respondents' dismissal papers; relevant transcript excerpts; Bar/Board public-record replacement material; one narrow Board decision letter for same-attorney/same-Board refund context; Respondent Luke Shealey's refund emails; and filing and service pages needed to confirm record status.

Preservation appears in the complaint, Motion to Strike, hearing transcript, Rule 60 clarification filing, dismissal briefing, and challenged orders. Through those materials, Appellant preserved the dismissal, sanctions, filing-restriction, confidentiality/redaction, refund/nonpayment, Rule 1.5(f), and individualized-finding issues. Appellant has received the certified February 4, 2026 hearing transcript (certified by Jeanne Meldrim, Legal Eagle, April 28, 2026) and has served it on all required parties by email. Appellant will conform all record citations to the settled Record on Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant retained Respondent Luke A. Shealey, Esq. and paid an \$8,000 flat fee in connection with that representation. Following termination of the representation, Appellant alleged that a refund dispute arose regarding unearned fees and the return of a portion of the retainer. Appellant explained at the February 4, 2026 hearing that the Board found required disclosures were missing from the contract and that Rule 1.5 was violated by Mr. Shealey (Tr. p. 5, ll. 7-9).

The flat-fee nature of the dispute matters. Appellant contends the Board obtained or considered time records from Respondent that were not provided to her and then used those time records to calculate a reduced refund from a flat-fee agreement despite the Rule 1.5(f) disclosure issue. That sequence supplied an objective basis for Appellant to challenge the refund calculation, the use of undisclosed time material, and the refusal to return additional funds. Appellant does not ask this Court to discipline Respondent; she relies on the Rule 1.5(f) issue to show that her refund, contract, equitable, and public-record filings were objectively nonfrivolous.

Respondent made written refund offers. Appellant stated on the record that Mr. Shealey 'only offered to refund half of the fee, which led me to file a fee dispute' (Tr. p. 5, ll. 10-12), and separately that 'He said he would have gave me half of it. He stopped speaking, so I just went to the board for help' (Tr. p. 16, ll. 24-25; p. 17, l. 1). Those on-the-record statements are corroborated by the May 20, 2024 written refund email in which Respondent offered to return \$4,000 of the original \$8,000 retainer. Appellant further alleges that Respondent has not paid the Board-related refund determination, not even in part.

Appellant relied on the Fee Disputes Board context, Rule 1.5(f) materials, alleged nonpayment, and Respondent's written refund communications as independent reasons to seek court review, clarification, correction, and enforcement. Those assertions did not depend on proving professional negligence; Appellant's position is that this was not a legal-malpractice claim, but a refund, contract, equitable, confidentiality, redaction, and enforcement dispute supported by ordinary documents.

Appellant also raised confidentiality and redaction issues directly. She contended Respondent was fired for conduct involving former-client confidentiality, and she later had to seek redaction and strike inaccurate or prejudicial collateral material placed into public filings. At the February 4 hearing, Appellant stated that unredacted documents submitted by the Board remained online and contained banking, personal, and social security information, and she requested redaction (Tr. p. 17, ll. 10-15).

The circuit court's February 25, 2026 written order dismissed the 06986 complaint with prejudice, imposed sanction consequences on Appellant, and included filing-restriction language. Appellant challenged that language through a Rule 60 motion directed to 06986 on the ground that no individualized findings as to Appellant's own conduct supported it. The challenged sequence matters because the written order followed the February 6 Form 4 and included severe consequences without individualized oral findings separating Appellant from any Kevin-only gatekeeper issue.

Kevin Rubink is referenced only because Respondents' counsel stated on the record that the first dismissal ground - the gatekeeper order - applied only to Mr. Rubink: 'First only applies to Mr. Rubink, but that this case violates the --- this court's gatekeeper order' (Tr. p. 11, ll. 1-2). Once that concession was made, any dismissal, sanction, or filing restriction against Appellant required separate findings based solely on Appellant's own pleadings and conduct. The limited Kevin Board-decision material is used only to show same-attorney/same-Board refund context, not to import Mr. Rubink's litigation history.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP dismissal is reviewed de novo under the same standard applied by the circuit court. The appellate court must construe the complaint liberally, accept the factual allegations as true, and affirm dismissal only if the plaintiff would not be entitled to relief under any theory reasonably supported by the pleaded facts. *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 113, 628 S.E.2d 869, 872 (2006).

Sanctions are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Legal errors embedded in a sanction ruling, including use of the wrong legal standard, failure to identify the specific conduct supporting sanctions, or failure to make findings tied to the sanctioned party, are reviewed without deference. *Plyler v. Burns*, 373 S.C. 637, 647, 647 S.E.2d 188, 193 (2007).

Filing restrictions are reviewed for abuse of discretion. To the extent a filing restriction embodies a legal error, such as failure to make individualized, party-specific findings before imposing the restriction, that embedded legal error is reviewed de novo without deference. A court's authority to control abusive filings does not eliminate fair process, party-specific findings, and narrow tailoring.

To the extent the circuit court dismissed equitable and other non-negligence theories at the pleading stage as legally insufficient, review is likewise de novo because the ruling turned on legal sufficiency rather than factfinding.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The challenged rulings should be reversed, vacated, narrowed, or remanded for five distinct reasons.

First, the designated record - including the certified February 4, 2026 transcript - shows a real refund dispute, a real confidentiality and public-record dispute, and a real preservation record, not a fabricated or abusive filing. Second, Respondent Luke Shealey's written refund offers, Appellant's on-the-record hearing statements (Tr. p. 5, ll. 10-12; p. 16, ll. 24-25), the Board context, the Rule 1.5(f) issue, alleged nonpayment of the Board-related refund determination, and Appellant's file-stamped Motion to Strike (Tr. p. 8, ll. 13-19) supplied an objectively reasonable basis to seek court review, correction, clarification, and enforcement.

Third, the circuit court improperly treated Appellant's non-malpractice claims as if they were a legal-malpractice action requiring expert proof, instead of separately analyzing the independent refund, contract/refund-promise, unjust-enrichment, equitable, confidentiality, redaction, public-record correction, and enforcement theories. The court was required to analyze the claims and parties separately. Fourth, the court imposed dismissal, sanctions, and filing restrictions on Appellant without separating her from Kevin Rubink after Respondents' counsel expressly conceded on the record that the first gatekeeper-history ground applied only to Mr. Rubink (Tr. p. 11, ll. 1-2). Fifth, confidentiality, redaction, and public-record correction were independent merits issues requiring legal analysis on their own terms. They could not properly be converted into sanctionable conduct merely because the court might disagree with the requested remedy.

ARGUMENT

I. The properly scoped record affirmatively demonstrates Appellant's individual, objectively reasonable basis to file.

The designated record is tailored to the issues actually presented in this appeal and affirmatively demonstrates why Appellant had a reasonable basis to file the 06986 action. The February 4, 2026 transcript confirms that the fee-dispute matter (04675) and the civil action (06986) were heard in the same sequential proceeding: the 04675 hearing concluded at Tr. p. 9, l. 25, and 06986 was called immediately thereafter at Tr. p. 10, ll. 1-3. Appellant relies on the 04675 portion of the transcript only for four narrow contextual points: the refund dispute (Tr. p. 5, ll. 7-12), Board history (Tr. p. 6, ll. 14-16), Rule 1.5(f) issue (Tr. p. 5, ll. 7-9), and the hearing-sequence continuity showing both matters arose from the same fee dispute.

That limited use is proper because it explains why Appellant had an objectively reasonable basis to file the 06986 action and why any sanction or filing restriction imposed in 06986 still had to rest on findings specific to her. It does not invite this Court to attribute another person's litigation history or separate disputes to Appellant.

II. Documentary refund and fee-dispute evidence defeats any frivolousness finding.

Under S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-10, a claim or defense is frivolous only when it is not warranted by existing law or a nonfrivolous argument for change and is interposed for an improper purpose. A filing is not frivolous merely because the circuit court disagrees with the requested remedy. *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601, 602 (1995).

Appellant relied on objective, documentary materials: written refund offers; Fee Disputes Board context; Rule 1.5(f) materials; the flat-fee nature of the agreement; an alleged time-record issue involving time material not shared with Appellant; alleged nonpayment of the Board-related refund determination; and a file-stamped Motion to Strike challenging extra-record and confidentiality allegations (Tr. p. 8, ll. 13-19). Appellant also stated on the record that Mr. Shealey offered to refund half of the fee (Tr. p. 5, ll. 10-12; p. 16, ll. 24-25), and those statements are corroborated by the written email offering \$4,000 of the \$8,000 retainer.

Those materials provide objective written evidence of a genuine refund dispute and strongly undermine any conclusion that the action was fabricated, baseless, or filed for an improper purpose. A litigant who presents this documentary refund history, a Rule 1.5(f) issue, alleged nonpayment, and preserved objections to public use of former-client information does not fit the Section 15-36-10 frivolousness standard on the face of this record. The circuit court therefore could not properly collapse the existence of disputed merits into a finding of frivolousness without findings grounded in Appellant's actual filings and conduct.

III. The court was required to analyze each non-negligence theory separately under Rule 12(b)(6).

The 06986 complaint did not plead this case as a legal-malpractice action. It asserted independent, non-malpractice theories tied to ordinary documents: refund, contract/refund-promise, unjust enrichment, equitable relief, confidentiality, redaction, public-record correction, and enforcement. Under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, the dispositive question is whether the pleaded facts support relief under any viable theory. *Spence* requires liberal construction at the pleading stage.

S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-100 does not transform every dispute involving a lawyer into a legal-malpractice action or extinguish independent non-malpractice claims that can be evaluated without expert proof of a professional standard of care. *Holmes v. East Cooper Cmty. Hosp., Inc.*, 408 S.C. 138, 147-48, 758 S.E.2d 483, 488 (2014).

Each non-negligence theory stands independently at the pleading stage without expert proof. Refund or breach of refund promise can be evaluated under ordinary contract principles; unjust enrichment turns on retention of money under circumstances making retention unjust; enforcement or clarification of a refund-related determination is a legal or equitable issue; confidentiality and redaction issues turn on Rules 1.6 and 1.9(c), Rule 407, SCACR; and public-record correction is a procedural and equitable matter for the court. Critically, the court was required to analyze the claims and the Respondents separately before concluding that any or all theories failed.

The flat-fee and time-record issue illustrates why separate analysis was required. Appellant alleged that the Board acknowledged a Rule 1.5(f) issue but nevertheless relied on time material from Respondent to calculate a reduced refund on a flat-fee agreement. Even if the circuit court ultimately disagreed with Appellant's requested refund amount, that documentary dispute supported non-malpractice refund, contract, unjust-enrichment, and equitable theories independent of any professional-negligence claim. The failure to analyze those theories independently was reversible error under *Spence* and *Holmes*.

IV. Sanctions and filing restrictions required individualized findings, identification of specific conduct, and narrow tailoring.

The Rubink concession is dispositive on the individualized-findings issue. Respondents' counsel stated expressly on the record: 'First only applies to Mr. Rubink, but that this case violates the --- this court's gatekeeper order' (Tr. p. 11, ll. 1-2). Once that concession was made, the circuit court could not properly attribute the gatekeeper ground to Appellant by implication or group treatment.

Sanctions under S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-10 and Rule 11, SCRCF require findings tied to the conduct of the person sanctioned, not group attribution to co-litigants whose circumstances were expressly distinguished on the record. Rule 11 also requires identification of the specific filing or conduct found to violate the rule; a generalized attribution based on another litigant's history satisfies neither the rule nor basic due process. *Plyler v. Burns*, 373 S.C. 637, 647, 647 S.E.2d 188, 193 (2007). The February 25 order does not reflect individualized findings as to Appellant, and the record does not show prior South Carolina abusive pro se litigation by Appellant that would support a broad filing restriction.

Broad filing restrictions burden access to the courts. Although not binding on this Court, *Cromer v. Kraft Foods N. Am., Inc.*, 390 F.3d 812, 819-21 (4th Cir. 2004), is persuasive in identifying basic safeguards before such restrictions may issue: notice and opportunity to be heard, findings of abusive or vexatious conduct by the affected litigant, consideration of less restrictive alternatives, and narrow tailoring.

Without findings identifying Appellant's own specific conduct as abusive, explaining why lesser remedies were inadequate, and narrowly defining the scope of any restriction to match the conduct found, the sanction and filing-restriction language cannot stand in its present form. The written-order sequence after the February 6 Form 4 further warrants review because the severe sanction and filing-restriction consequences appeared without individualized oral findings separating Appellant from the Kevin-only gatekeeper issue.

V. Confidentiality, redaction, and public-record correction were independent merits issues.

Appellant's confidentiality and redaction theories were substantive merits issues raised at every stage of the proceedings, including directly from the podium at the February 4, 2026 hearing. Appellant stated that 'there's a lot of unredacted documents that's still online that the board submitted to you guys involving my banking, my personal information, my social' and requested redaction because the information was harmful (Tr. p. 17, ll. 10-15). Appellant further alleged that Respondent introduced billing records and client-specific materials into public court filings containing information subject to Rules 1.6 and 1.9(c), Rule 407, SCACR, without consent and beyond what was lawfully necessary.

Whether Respondent's public filings remained within proper bounds is a justiciable question requiring legal analysis, not dismissal as frivolous. The confidentiality issue is not transformed into a legal-malpractice claim requiring expert testimony merely because it arises in the attorney-client context. Rules 1.6 and 1.9(c) are professional-conduct standards; their application to a specific factual record, and the availability of redaction, sealing, or corrective relief, are legal questions the court may address without expert proof of a general professional standard of care.

The Bar/Board public-record replacement material designated for the Record further confirms that there was a real public-record concern rooted in actual documents. At minimum, the circuit court was required to analyze the confidentiality and redaction theories before dismissing them or treating them as evidence of frivolousness. A former client should not be sanctioned or restricted from court access for seeking to correct public filings that allegedly contain sensitive personal, financial, or client-related information.

RELIEF REQUESTED

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