RECEIVED

Aug 10 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2025-CP-40-06986

Appellate Case No. 2026-000774

Brandi Barnett and Kevin Rubink,.....Plaintiffs,

v.

Luke Shealey, Brian Shealey, and Shealey Law Firm, LLC,.....Defendants,

of which Brandi Barnett is the Appellant and Luke Shealey is the..... Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

COPELAND, STAIR, VALZ & LOVELL, LLP

This 10th day of August, 2026.

s/Douglas W. MacKelcan

Douglas W. MacKelcan

S.C. Bar No.: 76332

Taylor L. Cary

S.C. Bar No.: 105136

dmackelcan@csvl.law

tcary@csvl.law

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court’s Sanctions Holding Within its Order is Solely Against Kevin Rubink, Not Appellant

First, the trial court’s Order finding for sanctions is only against non-party Plaintiff Kevin Rubink. The Order explicitly states:

Plaintiff Rubink has evidenced a pattern of abusing the legal process in bringing frivolous proceedings and the potential remains for them to continue that practice unless severe sanctions are levied. As a result, pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-36-10(G)(3), I enjoin Plaintiff Rubink from filing any other suit on his own behalf. If Plaintiff Rubink desires to file a suit for a claim of his own after this Court’s Form 4 Order entered in this case on February 6, 2026, they must have the pleadings signed by an attorney licensed in South Carolina certifying that the filing complies with Rule 11, SCRCP. If the pleading does not comply with this Court’s directive, the Richland

County Clerk of the Court is instructed to reject any filings from Plaintiff.

See Court's Order entered February 25, 2026.

It is clear from the trial court's Order the filing restriction sanction is not imposed on the Appellant. As a result, Appellant's arguments on appeal on this issue are unnecessary, moot, and not ripe for appeal.

II. Appellant Dismissed Her Appeal of the Fee Disputes Board's Decision and, Thus, Any Issues Regarding the Fee Dispute Board's Decision Are Not Preserved for Appeal

It appears that Appellant may be seeking to reverse the trial court's findings on the Fee Disputes Board's final decision, which held that the Fee Disputes Board's final decision, dated June 5, 2025 could not be vacated because none of the circumstances in Rule 426, SCACR, Rule 20(f) applied such that there were no grounds for vacating the Fee Dispute Board's final decision. *See* Order Dismissing Appellant's Notice of Appeal entered February 25, 2026, in Case No. 2025-CP-40-04675, at pp. 4-6. To the extent that Appellant is seeking to appeal or vacate any determination of the Fee Disputes Board's final decision, such an argument is not preserved for appeal as Appellant dismissed her appeal of the trial court's decision on the Fee Disputes Board's final decision. *See* Court of Appeal's Order dismissing Appellate Case No. 2026-000783.

Further, these issues are not preserved for appeal in this case as Appellant's arguments regarding the "related fee dispute matter, 2025-CP-40-04675," were not before the trial court on this matter or brought before the trial court on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. Specifically, Appellant's argument that the Fee Dispute Board's final decision and the proceeding are evidence of the lack of frivolousness of Appellant's Complaint is not ripe for review.

A great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have emphasized the importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to

the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.

Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 23-24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004). If an argument is presented to the circuit court but not ruled upon, the litigant is obligated to move for reconsideration to obtain a ruling to preserve the argument for appeal. *Kosciusko v. Parham*, 428 S.C. 481, 506, 836 S.E.2d 362, 375 (Ct. App. 2019).

The preservation requirement is imposed to allow the lower court to rule properly after considering the relevant facts, law, and arguments. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). This Court noted:

The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is [sic] has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments . . . Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.

Id.

Appellate courts will not reverse a lower court on a ground that was not submitted to the lower court. *Powers v. City of Aiken*, 255 S.C. 115, 117, 177 S.E.2d 370, 371 (1970). After all, the court of appeals is a court of review. *Id.* The purpose of an appeal is to determine whether the lower court did something it should not have done or failed to do something it should have done. *Id.* To accomplish this review purpose, an argument must be sufficiently presented to the lower court so it has an opportunity to rule. *See id.* “An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.” *Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009).

Here, Appellant's argument that the Fee Dispute Board's proceeding and final decision is evidence of the lack of frivolousness of Appellant's Complaint was not before the trial court. Appellant did not make this argument in opposition to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss or at the hearing on the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. *See* Plaintiffs' Response in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Sanctions and Fraud on the Court filed November 7, 2025; *see also* MTD Hearing Tr. at p. 9:25-17:20. Appellant also did not timely file a motion for reconsideration regarding this argument. Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration with the trial court after she filed this appeal with the Court of Appeals, and the trial court has not heard her motion. Therefore, since the Appellant did not raise her argument to the trial court regarding the Fee Dispute Board's final decision and the proceeding being evidence of the lack of frivolousness, this argument is not preserved for appeal and should not be considered by this Court.

III. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed Appellant's Complaint under S.C. Code § 15-36-100 and Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP

The trial court properly held that Appellant's Complaint was subject to dismissal under S.C. Code § 15-36-100 for her failure to file an expert affidavit with the Complaint and under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP for failure to state a claim. First, Appellant failed to file an expert affidavit with the Complaint in support of the allegations contained in the Complaint, as is required pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-36-100. Specifically, S.C. Code § 15-36-100 states, "in an action for damages alleging professional negligence against a professional licensed by or registered with the State of South Carolina and listed in subsection (G) . . . the plaintiff must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness which must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit." *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(C)(1). The statute expressly applies to actions for professional negligence against attorneys. *See id.* § 15-36-100(G)(2). The purpose is to protect

certain South Carolina professionals from “Frivolous Civil Proceedings” unsupported by expert testimony averring the extent and breach of the professional’s standard of care. “[I]f an affidavit is not filed . . . and the defendant against whom the affidavit should have been filed alleges, by motion to dismiss . . . that the plaintiff has failed to file the requisite affidavit, the complaint is subject to dismissal for failure to state a claim.” *See id.* § 15-36-100(C)(1). As a result, Appellant’s Complaint was properly subject to dismissal by the trial court.

South Carolina Courts have followed the express language contained in S.C. Code § 15-36-100 *et seq.* in finding that professional negligence actions require an expert affidavit filed with the complaint, and that said complaints are subject to dismissal if one is not filed with the complaint. For example, this Court affirmed the trial court’s dismissal of a complaint despite the plaintiff’s characterization of the cause of action as contractual in nature. *See H&H of Johnston, LLC v. Old Republic Nat’l Title Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 469, 474, 748 S.E.2d 72, 74 (Ct. App. 2013). This Court examined the specific allegations in the complaint to determine whether they fell within the scope of the practice of law. *Id.* This approach is consistent with the Court’s general discretion to determine the character of an action by its main purpose and broad outline of allegations, even if such a determination is inconsistent with the “intention or characterization of the pleader.” *See Bramlet v. Young*, 229 S.C. 519, 531, 93 S.E.2d 873, 879 (1956) (*citing Steizman v. Guirl*, 202 S.C. 498, 25 S.E.2d 731 (1943)).

While Appellant’s Complaint attempts to circumvent Section 15-36-100 by stating her causes of action are not founded on legal malpractice, the causes of action asserted against Respondent are all based upon the allegation that Respondent negligently represented Appellant and breached his duties to her when acting as her attorney. *See e.g.*, Compl. at ¶¶ 47-49, 58-68, 75-79. As a result, under S.C. Code § 15-36-100, Appellant was required to file an expert affidavit

with her Summons & Complaint, and her failure to do so subjects her Complaint to dismissal. *See* S.C. Code § 15-36-100(C)(1). As a result, the trial court correctly dismissed the Complaint against Respondent, and this Court should uphold the trial court's finding.

Second, Appellant's Complaint fails to allege any facts supporting that any actions or inactions by Respondent caused Appellant damages. *See Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 553 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001). Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, permits a defendant to move for dismissal for a plaintiff's "failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action." South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 8(a), requires a pleading to contain "a short and plain statement of facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." Mere conclusory allegations, however, are insufficient to constitute a cause of action if unsupported by particularized allegations of fact. *Jones v. Gilstrap*, 288 S.C. 525, 528, 343 S.E.2d 646, 648 (Ct. App. 1986). Appellant alleges, without any supporting facts or allegations, that Respondent's alleged conduct was "a recurring pattern constituting fraud, grand larceny, breach of trust and professional misconduct under South Carolina law." Here, the Complaint falls short of Rule 8, SCRCP, and only asserts generalizations and conclusory allegations against Respondent, without alleging what Respondent did (or did not do) that caused Appellant's alleged injuries, which are also not factually stated. The Court should therefore deny Appellant's appeal and reaffirm the trial court's Order dismissing the Complaint with prejudice on this additional ground.

IV. Even if preserved, the Trial Court Properly Found that the Appellant's Complaint was Frivolous Under the Frivolous Proceeding Sanctions Act (hereinafter "the Act"), S.C. Code § 15-36-10

If this Court finds that the Appellant's arguments regarding the lack of frivolousness of her Complaint against Respondent are preserved for appeal, the trial court's Order properly concluded that Respondent made the requisite showing that Appellant's Complaint and subsequent filings

were frivolous and unduly burdensome under the Act. The trial court also correctly held that the Appellant's Complaint was duplicative of her complaint filed with the Fee Disputes Board, Claim No. 2025JAN08, which necessitated dismissal of Appellant's Complaint with prejudice. *See* Order entered February 25, 2026, at ¶ 7.

Section 15-36-10(C)(1) of the Act provides, in pertinent part, that after a case has been dismissed, upon request of the prevailing party, the Court shall proceed to determine whether the claim was frivolous. An attorney, party, or *pro se* litigant shall be sanctioned for filing a frivolous pleading if the Court finds the attorney, party, or *pro se* litigant failed to comply with one of the following conditions:

- (i) the person has not read the frivolous pleading, motion, or document;
- (ii) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that under the facts, his claim or defense was clearly not warranted under existing law and that a good faith or reasonable argument did not exist for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law;
- (iii) a reasonable attorney presented with the same circumstances would believe that the procurement, initiation, continuation, or defense of a civil cause was intended merely to harass or injure the other party; or
- (iv) a reasonable attorney presented with the same circumstances would believe the pleading, motion, or document is frivolous, interposed for merely delay, or merely brought for any purpose other than securing proper discovery, joinder of parties, or adjudication of the claim or defense upon which the proceedings are based.

See S.C. Code § 15-36-10(A)(4).

Appellant violated the Act by virtue of her attempt to couch a meritless legal malpractice case as a far-reaching conspiracy and fraud claim, among other various claims. Appellant's

Complaint is duplicative of her complaint filed with the Fee Disputes Board. Pursuant to the Rules of Procedure for the South Carolina Resolution of Fee Disputes Board (the “Fee Disputes Board Rules”), Rule 19 provides that “[t]he decision of the Board shall be finding and binding upon the parties and shall be enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction.” The Fee Disputes Board held that Respondent’s fee “was reasonable in light of the factors set forth in Rule 1.5(a)” and that Appellant had no evidence to “dispute that [Respondent’s] office did not work on her case or failed to perform any of the work provided on [Respondent’s] time sheet.” *See* Ashley A. McMahan, Esq.’s June 3, 2025 letter. Despite the Fee Disputes Board’s findings, the Appellant continued to assert claims against Respondent with no factual basis to support them. *See* Order Dismissing Appellant’s Notice of Appeal entered February 25, 2026, in Case No. 2025-CP-40-04675. No reasonable attorney would have pressed such claims without the factual allegations to support said claims. Appellant’s tactics have been dilatory, vexatious (i.e., brought without sufficient grounds), oppressive, and unreasonable. As a result, the trial court properly granted dismissal of her Complaint against Respondent with prejudice and this Court should affirm the trial court’s Order.

V. Appellant’s Confidentiality and Redaction Arguments Are Meritless and Do Not Preclude Dismissal of the Complaint

Finally, Appellant seems to argue that there are “unredacted documents . . . online that the [Fee Disputes Board] submitted to [the court] involving my banking, my personal information, my social and that Respondent “introduced billing records and client-specific materials into public court filings,” which saves her Complaint from dismissal by the Court. *See* Appellant’s Initial Brief at p. 10. However, for the reasons stated above, the Complaint is still subject to dismissal. Additionally, this argument is not alleged in Appellant’s Complaint nor was it presented before the trial court. As a result, this argument is not preserved for appeal. *See Powers*, 255 S.C. at 117; *see also Johnson*, 381 S.C. at 177. At the trial court hearing on Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss,

Appellant only requested “that the court redact that information that that’s [sic] harmful,” which was allegedly “unredacted documents that’s still online that the board submitted to you guys involving my banking, my personal information, my social.” See MTD Hearing Tr. at p. 17:11-15 (emphasis added). Moreover, Rule 21 of the Fee Disputes Board Rules provides that “[a]ll proceedings shall be confidential, except that where a party to a proceeding subsequently resorts to legal proceedings in a court of record to appeal or to enforce the final decision of the Board,” and that “compliance with these Rules concerning appeal or enforcement does not constitute a violation of the confidentiality of the proceeding.” Here, any documents filed by Respondent in connection with his representation of Appellant were in response to Appellant’s appeal of the Fee Disputes Board’s final decision and, therefore, pursuant to Rule 21 of the Fee Disputes Board Rules, such filings were not a breach of any duty owed to Appellant. As a result, the Court should deny Appellant’s appeal and reaffirm the trial court’s Order.

CONCLUSION

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